
Corporate, Customer and Community Services 
Directorate 

Legal and Democratic Services  Cumbria House,117 Botchergate, Carlisle, 
CA1 1RD  Tel 01228 606060   

Email democratic.services@cumbria.gov.uk 
 

 

  

 

 
 

 
To:  The Council Leader and Members of Cabinet 
 
 

Agenda 
 
 

CABINET 
 
 
A meeting of the Cabinet will be held as follows:  
 
 Date: Thursday 14 October 2021 

 Time: 10.00 am 

 Place: Conference Room A Cumbria House, Botchergate Carlisle 
CA1 1RD 

 
 
 
 
 
Dawn Roberts 
Executive Director –Corporate, Customer and Community Services 
 
 
 
 
Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Jackie Currie 
Direct Line: 07919 056193 
Email: jackie.currie@cumbria.gov.uk 
 

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats 
 

 
 

Serving the People of Cumbria 



MEMBERSHIP 
 
 
 

Mr SF Young (Leader) 
Mrs PA Bell 
Mrs A Burns 
Ms D Earl 
Mr KA Little 
 

Mrs S Sanderson 
Mr DE Southward 
Mr P Thornton 
Mrs C Tibble 
Mrs J Willis 
 

 
 

 
ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

 
 
Agenda and Reports 
 
Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting. 
 
The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website –  
www.cumbria.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers 
 
Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday. 

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/


A G E N D A 
 
 
PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 

AND PUBLIC 
 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

To receive any apologies for absence. 
   
 
2   DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

 

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises 

 
1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
 profit or gain.  
 
2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 

the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  

 
3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 

a beneficial interest) and the authority  
 

(a)  Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
 executed; and  
 

 (b)  Which has not been fully discharged.  
 
4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.   
 
5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 

the authority for a month or longer.   
 
6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge)  
 
 (a) The landlord is the authority; and 
 
 (b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest. 
 
7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where 
 

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
 area of the authority; and 
 
 



(b) Either –  
 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
 hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

 
In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered. 
 
Note 
A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).   
 
3   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda. 
   
REFERRAL FROM SCRUTINY   
 
4   REFERRAL BACK FROM SCRUTINY RE CABINET DECISION ON THE 

POTENTIAL CLAIM FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW AGAINST THE DECISION OF 
THE SECRETARY OF STATE IN RESPECT OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
REVIEW IN CUMBRIA 
 

To consider a report from the Chair of Scrutiny Management Board (copy enclosed) 
  
(Pages 5 - 16)  
 
 
5   RESPONSE TO THE REFERRAL BACK FROM SCRUTINY RE CABINET 

DECISION ON THE POTENTIAL CLAIM FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW AGAINST 
THE DECISION OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE IN RESPECT OF LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT REVIEW IN CUMBRIA 
 

To consider a report from the Chief Legal Officer (copy enclosed) 
 
 (Pages 17 - 22)  
 
 
PART 2: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE ABSENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC 
 
None for this meeting. 
 

 



Committee:  Cabinet 

Date of meeting: 14 October 2021 

 
Title of Report: Referral back from Scrutiny re Cabinet decision on the 

potential claim for judicial review against the decision of the 

Secretary of State in respect of Local Government 

Reorganisation. 

Report by: Cllr Bill Wearing Chair of Scrutiny Management Board 

Cabinet Member: Cllr Stewart Young Leader of the Council 
 
 
 

What is the Report About? (Executive Summary) 
 
1. The report sets out SMB’s reasons to refer the decision on the potential claim 

for judicial review against the decision of the Secretary of State in respect of 
Local Government Reorganisation back to Cabinet. 

 
 

Recommendation of the Executive Director 
 
 N/A 
 
 
 Background to the Proposals 
 
2. On Monday 12 October 2021, SMB held a meeting to consider the call-in of 

Cabinet’s decision to proceed with a potential claim of judicial review against 
the Secretary of State’s decision in respect of Local Government 
Reorganisation (Cabinet meeting 23/09/21 Item.140). 

 
3. There were six Grounds in the Call-in letter. These were: 

 Lack of Transparency and Openness. 

 Because of the open-ended nature of the potential costs involved and 
complete lack of information provided about them, there is a need for 
call-in to scrutinise whether this decision is within the budget and 
policy framework. 

 The secrecy surrounding this decision and the reasons for it is in 
breach of the UN convention on Human Rights requirements on 
access to information. 

 The resources and potential cost involved are not proportionate to the 
likelihood, or lack of it, of achieving any change. 

 Access to information and advice: the entire discussion of the item 
was held in part II and not even a summary of the advice given was 
provided to the leadership of the opposition group went against the 
principle that members should have equal access to information. 

5

Agenda Item 4



 Because this decision explicitly goes against a specific view taken by 
the full council itself, all members can reasonably expect a full 
explanation of the reasons for this decision and for that decision to be 
subject to particular scrutiny. 

 
4. The grounds for call-in had been amended following the recently held 

clarification meeting. 

 Grounds 1,3 and 5 had been amalgamated 

 Grounds 2 and 4 had been amalgamated 

 Ground 6 remained as was originally stated. 
 

5. The grounds focussed on the transparency of the process, the cost and also 
whether the decision went against what had been agreed in Full Council. 

 
6. After full consideration of the cases put by the Call-in Members and the Lead 

Member for Cabinet, SMB were satisfied that the decision met all the Grounds 
except on costs and resolved to refer the decision back to Cabinet for its next 
meeting scheduled on 14 October 2021. The Board specifically resolved: 

 

 that Scrutiny Management Board was concerned about the potential of 
spiralling costs. 

 

7. SMB hopes that in reconsidering their decision Cabinet will take these issues 
into consideration.  

 
Options Considered and Risks Identified 

 
Option (a) 

 

 Cabinet reconsiders the decision on the grounds set out by the referral 
back from SMB. 

 
Financial – What Resources will be needed and how will it be Funded? 

 
N/A 

 
 Legal Aspects – What needs to be considered? 
 
 

N/A 
. 

 
Appendices  
 
Appendix 1 – Minutes of the SMB Call-in Meeting held on 11/10/21 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6



Key Facts 
 
Electoral Division(s): All 

 
 
 

Executive 
Decision  

Key 
Decision 
Included 
in 
Forward 
Plan 

Exempt 
from call-
in 

Exemption 
agreed by 
scrutiny 
chair 

Considered 
by 
scrutiny, if 
so detail 
below 

Environmental 
or 
sustainability 
assessment 
undertaken? 

Equality 
impact 
assessment  
undertaken? 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
 
 

Approved by the relevant Cabinet Member/s – N/A 
 
 
Previous relevant Council or Executive decisions – 23/09/21 
 
 
Consideration by Overview & Scrutiny – 11/10/21 
 
 
Background Papers – N/A 
 
 
Report Author 
 
Joel Rasbash, Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Advisor, joel.rasbash@cumbria.gov.uk 
 
 
 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 
SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 

 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Scrutiny Management Board held on Monday, 11 
October 2021 at 2.00 pm in the Council Chamber,  County Hall, Kendal 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Mr WJ Wearing (Chairman) 
 

Mr SB Collins 
Mrs S Evans 
Mr KR Hamilton 
Mr M Hawkins 
Mr N Hughes 
Mr J Lister 
 

Ms C McCarron-Holmes 
Mr W McEwan 
Mrs V Tarbitt 
Mr CP Turner 
Mr M Wilson (Vice-Chair) 
 

 
Also in Attendance:- 
 
Mrs J Currie - Professional Lead - Democratic Services 
Ms C Killeen - Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Manager 
Ms L Morgan - Senior Lawyer - Legal and Democratic Services 
Ms I Puzio - Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring Officer) 
Mr J Rasbash - Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Advisor 
 
 

  
PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 

PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

 

 
 
27 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Mr P Dew and Dr S Haraldsen. 
 
28 MEMBERSHIP 
 
There were no changes of membership to report on this occasion. 
 
  
29 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 
 
There were no disclosures of interest made. 
 
 
 
 
 

9



 
 

30 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED,  that the press and public be excluded during any potential 

discussion of Appendix 3 of Agenda Item No 5(A) – the Cabinet 
Report on Potential Claim for Judicial review against the decision of 
the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government 
Reorganisation in Cumbria, as this report contains exempt 
information in respect of which a legal claim to professional privilege 
could be maintained in proceedings.  

 
 
31 CALL-IN ITEMS 
 
(A)  Cabinet Report - Potential Claim for Judicial Review against decision of 

the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Reorganisation in 
Cumbria 

 
Scrutiny Management Board received and noted the Cabinet Report from 23 
September 2021 Potential Claim for Judicial Review against the decision of the 
Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Reorganisation. 
  
 
(B) Cabinet Minute Extract - Potential Claim for Judicial Review against 

decision of the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government 
Reorganisation in Cumbria 

 
The Minute Extract on the Potential Claim for Judicial Review against the Decision 
of the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Reorganisation was noted. 
 
 
(C) Call in letter - Potential Claim for Judicial Review against decision of the 

Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Reorganisation in 
Cumbria 

 
The Chair of Scrutiny Management Board opened this item by informing members 
of changes to the grounds for call in, which had been amended following the 
recently held clarification meeting. 
 

 Grounds 1,3 and 5 had now been amalgamated 

 Grounds 2 and 4 and been amalgamated 

 Ground 6 remained as was originally stated 

The grounds focussed on the transparency of the process, the cost and also 
whether the decision went against what had been agreed in Full Council. 
 
The Chair said members would hear initial presentations from both parties, after 
which members could ask questions for clarification.  Following this, the meeting 
would then move into debate once the closing remarks from the Call-in Members 
and the Lead Cabinet member had been received. 
  

10



 
 

The purpose of the meeting was for Scrutiny Management Board to consider the 
call-in of the decision to issue a claim for Judicial Review against the decision of the 
Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria, and 
to decide whether the decision should or should not be referred back to Cabinet. 
 
The intention was to conduct the meeting fully in public. If any party intended to refer 
to any Part 2 information, which cannot be shared in public, the meeting would need 
to adjourn so those matters could be held without the press and public present. 
 
The Lead Call in Member was then invited to make his presentation.  He began by 
reminding members that the previous 6 grounds for call in had now been 
amalgamated into 3 grounds, and he, and the other call in members took SMB 
through the justifications for these. 
 
1) Lack of Transparency and Openness, including the secrecy 

surrounding the decision, and the access to information and advice 
 
The agenda item at Cabinet was held in Part II (private) with the press, public 
and members not in the cabinet excluded and no material explanation had 
been provided for the justification of the cabinet decision or what assessment 
had been done of costs, risks or chances of success. As such this was 
completely against the principles of transparency and openness. 
 
The secrecy surrounding this decision was to a point that it was preventing 
the democratic process being the vehicle for free expression.  The call in 
members felt that this decision impacted the human rights of the people of 
Cumbria by preventing free expression through extreme secrecy on the part 
of the Cabinet. 
 
The call in members also felt there was a serious shortfall in the information 
and legal advice that had been provided to both backbench councillors and 
the opposition group which made it difficult to understand the basis on which 
the cabinet decision was taken.  

 
2) The open ended nature of the potential costs involved and the 

resources and potential cost involved not being proportionate to the 
likelihood or lack of achieving any change 
 
Cabinet Minutes from 23 September - Minute 140 gave no indication of the 
full scale of the potential costs and financial risks involved or how they would 
be funded. The recent history of the council demonstrated that the potential 
costs of complex legal processes could be measured in millions of pounds. 
Members were entitled to demand proper scrutiny of the potential costs and 
risks and how they were to be paid for so that a full assessment of whether 
the decision was within the cost and budget framework could be made. 
 
Insufficient information had been provided about the advice given concerning 
the costs and risks of this action (not just the direct costs but costs in terms of 
officer time) and the chances of success, so it was difficult to assess whether 
this decision met the principle of proportionality. However, there was 

11



 
 

indisputably a material risk of an expensive failure in which large sums of 
taxpayers’ money could be lost in an unsuccessful challenge to no benefit 
whatsoever.  Members needed to understand whether due diligence had 
been carried out to minimise the risk of such an outcome and ensure that the 
decision was proportionate in terms of the potential to achieve any favourable 
change weighed against costs and risks. 
 
Many years ago, when the Labour Party was in Government they rejected a 
proposal for a single unitary for Cumbria on the basis that the County was too 
big for one unitary authority. 
 
The current Government had also made the same decision that Cumbria was 
too large for a single authority, which was why it had chosen the two unitary 
proposal. 
 
The difference between the Cumbria and North Yorkshire decisions was 
based on the fact that in North Yorkshire only one of the proposed options 
met the criteria, whereas in Cumbria two of the four proposed options met the 
criteria.     
 
The call in members felt instead of pursuing the claim for a Judicial Review 
the money set aside for this should be spent on maintaining front line 
services. 
 

3) The decision explicitly went against a specific view taken by the full 
Council, and the call in members felt that all members should 
reasonably expect a full explanation of the reasons for this.   
The allegation had been made that the vote by full council was only advisory 
because it was an executive matter. The call in members made the argument 
that this should carry substantial weight. 
  

The Leader responded to all of the grounds for call in. 
 
On the issue of openness and transparency the Leader did not understand the 
justification for this.  The Cabinet Report was published on the County Council’s 
website in line with Access to Information rules, and included a Part II (private) 
Appendix 3.  At the meeting, and on the advice of the County Council’s Chief Legal 
Officer, the discussion was moved into private, as it was felt it would be difficult to 
hold the debate without referring to the legal advice. 
 
Even if the report was referred back to Cabinet this advice was unlikely to change, 
as the legal advice would still be subject to legal professional privilege. 
 
Although his preference would have been to hold this discussion in public it would 
have been extremely difficult to go against the legal advice given. 
 
On the issue of cost the Leader felt that if the argument was about the time and cost 
involved not being proportionate to the likelihood or lack of achieving any change, 
he felt the same could be said of the call in today. 
 

12



 
 

However, the Leader firmly believed in the call in process within Cumbria County 
Council, which was enhanced by the fact that the Chair of Scrutiny Management 
Board was a member of the opposition party. 
   
He felt it was worth pursuing the claim for judicial review for similar reasons. 
 
The decision by a previous Labour Government, which was referred to was in fact a 
decision to leave the current local government structure as it was, and not a 
decision to implement a two unitary model, and this was made  based on the fact 
that no alternate options for more than one unitary had been made by the district 
councils, mainly because they were unable to reach agreement on the split. 
 
The Leader was concerned that Cumbria had been given the same timescales as 
North Yorkshire and Somerset for implementation of local government reform, when 
actually the two decisions were not similar.  It would be much easier and quicker for 
North Yorkshire and Somerset to move to one unitary that it would be for Cumbria to 
move to two. 
 
With 8000 employees currently within the local government structures in Cumbria 
and the TUPE arrangements that would need to be established and resolved this 
would be very challenging time for the local authorities. 
 
The cost of splitting Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and Highways into two 
unitary organisations would run into millions of pounds year on year, so to spend 
£40,000 on the cost of a Judicial Review, which may result in millions of pounds not 
being wasted as a result of the reorganisation did not appear to be a waste of time 
and money to the Leader. 
 
With reference to the third ground for call in it had been made clear to members that 
full council had no jurisdiction over the decision and the outcome of the motion at full 
Council would have no effect on the Cabinet decision. 
 
This decision was not a budget and policy framework decision and was therefore 
not for full Council to take.  It was a question of who lawfully could take the decision, 
and only the Executive could take this type of decision. 
 
The Leader also challenged the call in members on their statement that the decision 
was taken by the majority of Council Members when in fact only 30 out of 84 
members had voted to support the motion. 
 
He ended by saying that if SMB did not feel that the three specific call in grounds 
have not been established then the decision should not be referred back to Cabinet. 
 
The Chair then opened the meeting to debate. 
 
Mr Hughes asked a question about the Pre Action Letter, page 15 7(a) – which 
states the Secretary of State left out of account necessarily material considerations 
which his own guidance requires to be taken into account.  He asked the Leader to 
expand on this. 
 

13



 
 

The Leader responded to say that he did not write the letter, so found it difficult to 
comment on the specifics but that in his opinion there were a number of grounds 
which indicated that the decision could be unlawful.      
 
He had a number of concerns about how the decisions would now be implemented, 
based on the proposal from Allerdale and Copeland Borough Councils.  They had 
put forward the East and West Cumbria split as a proposal but this was not backed 
up  by any plan of action on how this would be achieved.  He felt the Secretary of 
State should have assured himself that the proposal was sound and the case was 
robust before he made the decision. 
 
Mrs Evans asked a question about the pre action letter on page 18 section 31 – and 
the reference to the need to establish a mayoral combined authority and then again 
on page 19 in 35(a) but then in the reply from the Secretary of State on page 29 he 
refers to this decision not being material to his decision.  This was all a bit confused, 
and she asked if the proposal by Allerdale and Copeland was based on the fact that 
there would be a need to establish a mayor. 
 
The Leader responded to say that the proposal from Allerdale and Copeland was 
predicated on having a directly elected mayor.  However, none of the proposals 
included any detail on this. 
 
The creation of a directly elected mayor was governed by different legislation. In 
reality the two unitary authorities would be created on vesting day but then both 
organisations would need to decide whether to proceed to become a combined 
authority.  This would in fact result in an additional layer of local government.  It 
would require the agreement of both unitary authorities to allow this to happen. 
 
There would also may be additional need for Joint Committees should the decision 
be made for the two unitary councils to operate any shared services for Adult Social 
Care, Children’s Services and the Fire and Rescue Services.   
 
The Leader felt the Structural Change Order may contain further reference to this 
and this was expected to be published in the near future.      
 
Mr Collins asked about the appeal process for Judicial Review and whether this 
could be appealed by both parties. 
 
The Chief Legal Officer confirmed that the outcome of the Judicial Review could be 
appealed by both parties. 
 
Some of the members of Scrutiny Management Board felt that this was absolutely 
the wrong time to be pursuing local government reform in Cumbria, especially with 
the current issues still ongoing around the pandemic and the crisis in Adult Social 
Care markets.  However, the claim for a judicial review would only prolong the 
process of reorganisation. 
 
Upon conclusion of a detailed debate it was proposed by Mr Turner and seconded 
by Mr Lister, that Scrutiny Management Board refer the item back to Cabinet on the 
basis of all three grounds for call in. 

14



 
 

 
An amendment was then proposed by Mr Hughes, and seconded by Mrs Evans that 
it be referred back to Cabinet only on the grounds of cost.  This amendment was 
agreed by the original proposer and became the substantive motion. 
 
This was then voted on, and with 7 for, 5 against and no abstentions it was  
 
RESOLVED,  that the item be referred back to Cabinet on the grounds of cost, 

and that Scrutiny Management Board was concerned about the 
potential of spiralling costs. 

 
(D) Supplementary Information 
 
There was no supplementary information provided on this occasion. 
 
 
32 CALL IN FLOW CHART 
 
Members noted the call in flow chart. 
  
 
 

The meeting ended at 3.40 pm 
  

 
 

 

15



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee:  Cabinet 

Date of meeting: 14 October 2021 

 
Title of Report: Response from Chief Legal Officer to Scrutiny Management 

Board Referral from Call-In – Judicial Review against 
decision of the Secretary of State in respect of Local 
Government Reorganisation in Cumbria 

 
Report by: Iolanda Puzio, Chief Legal Officer  

Cabinet Member: Stewart Young, Leader of the Council 
 
 
 

What is the Report About? (Executive Summary) 
 
1. This report provides a response to the recommendations from Scrutiny 

Management Board (SMB) following the call in of the Cabinet decision on the 
23 September 2021 on the grounds of the transparency of the process, the cost 
and also whether the decision went against what had been agreed in Full 
Council. 
 

2. The original reasons for the Call In were discussed and the SMB 
recommendations reflect that wider discussion. 
 

3. Following a discussion at SMB it was resolved that this matter be referred back 
to Cabinet on the grounds of cost, and that SMB was concerned about the 
potential of spiralling costs. 
 

Response 
 

4. The original Cabinet paper provided an estimate of the costs of bringing a claim 
for judicial review including the risk of being required to pay the legal costs of 
Government if the claim was unsuccessful at £80k.  The costs will be met from 
the revenue contingency budget.  The contingency budget is an annual budget 
included in the Medium Term Financial Plan to deal with one off in-year 
expenses when they arise.  The budget is £1.5m.  £0.215m has been 
committed to date with eligible spend of £1.285m remaining.  
 

5. It is difficult to provide an accurate estimate of the costs at such an early stage 
of the claim especially as the Secretary of State failed to provide the information 
that the Council had requested when it responded to the PAPL.   The estimate 
was based on discussions with Counsel about his likely costs.  We assumed 
that the costs for the government would be at a similar level.  The actual costs 
will depend on whether there is a separate oral permission hearing, the length 
of the substantive hearing and the issues raised by the Secretary of State in his 
response to the claim.  There is in addition a risk that unforeseen costs will be 
incurred.  For example we have instructed solicitors to support us in issuing the 
proceedings if Cabinet confirms the decision to proceed with the claim.   
 

17

Agenda Item 5



6. However as discussed above the eligible spend remaining in the contingency 
budget is over £1.2m so even if the costs increased significantly, such as by 
50% to a total of £120,000, this could be met from this budget.  
 

7. SMB were particularly concerned about the risk of costs spiralling as a result of 
the matter going to appeal.   
 

8. As claimant the Council can apply to the Court of Appeal for permission to 
appeal where permission to apply for judicial review is refused at the permission 
stage.  The Secretary of State as defendant to the claim has no right of appeal 
at this stage. 
 

9. Either party also has a right to apply to the Court of Appeal for permission to 
appeal against a substantive decision.  An application for permission to appeal 
should first be made at the hearing but the court may adjourn the question of 
permission to appeal to another date or to be considered on written 
representations to give the parties more time to consider an appeal.  An 
application for permission to appeal can also be made to the Court of Appeal or 
for a right to appeal directly to the Supreme Court using the “leapfrog” appeal 
procedure.   Permission to appeal will only be granted if the Court of Appeal 
finds that the appeal would have a real prospect of success or there is some 
other compelling reason why the appeal should be heard. 
 

10. If the claim for judicial review is unsuccessful either at the permission stage or 
at the substantive hearing the Council would need to make a decision about 
whether or not to apply for permission to appeal.  That would be a separate 
decision which would need to be made at that time by Cabinet, based on the 
information available at that time including an estimate of the costs and the 
chances of success based on the issues raised at the substantive hearing.    
 

11. If the claim for judicial review is successful there is a possibility that the 
Secretary of State may decide to apply for permission to appeal that decision. 
 

12. It is difficult to quantify the level of costs of a matter going to appeal and a 
detailed estimate would need to be provided at the time. However the costs are 
likely to be significantly lower than the costs of the original claim because 
usually no new evidence is allowed at this stage and the hearing is likely to be 
shorter.     
 

13. If the matter is appealed (by either party) and the Council is unsuccessful at the 
appeal hearing there is a potential that the Council could be ordered to pay the 
costs of the Government.  This could include the costs of both the original claim 
and the appeal.  However, a cost order of this nature is not automatic and 
depending on the circumstances the parties could each bear their own costs or 
a costs order at appeal could only cover the costs of the appeal.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

18



Recommendation of the Chief Legal Officer 
 
14. It is recommended that Cabinet consider whether the issues raised by SMB and 

the additional information provided in this report impact on the decision taken by 
Cabinet on the 23 September 2021 to issue proceedings for judicial review and 
if they do not impact on that decision, Cabinet is recommended to restate its 
decision to issue proceedings in this matter. 

 
 Options Considered and Risks Identified 
 

Option (a) 
 

 Cabinet could decide to restate its decision to issue proceedings for 
judicial review against the Secretary for State. 

 
 Option (b)  
 

 Cabinet could decide in light of the additional information not to pursue the 
decision to issue proceedings for judicial review against the Secretary of 
State. 

 
 
 Financial – What Resources will be needed and how will it be Funded? 
 
10. The financial implications are covered within the main body of this report.  No 

additional resources were required for the production of this report.  
 
 Legal Aspects – What needs to be considered? 
 
11. Cabinet is required to reconsider the decision to issue proceedings for judicial 

review originally made on 23 September 2021 in light of the referral back to it by 
SMB.   
 

12. Before taking a further decision, Cabinet must carefully consider the 
recommendations of SMB as set out in paragraph 1 of this report.  SMB is 
concerned about the issue of costs and in particular the risk of spiralling costs 
as a result of an appeal by either side.  This report addresses those issues. 
Cabinet should be aware that any decision by the Council to appeal against a 
decision either at the permission stage or the substantive hearing stage would 
need to be taken at the time.  In making this decision, Cabinet would have to 
take into account all relevant information available at that time.   
 

13. Cabinet should also be mindful of the report to Cabinet dated 23 September 
2021 and the officer advice and legal comments within that report. 

 
Health and Safety Aspects – What needs to be considered? 

 
14. There are no identified health and safety aspects to be considered in relation to 

the issues discussed in this report. 
 
 

19



Council Plan Priority – How do the Proposals Contribute to the Delivery of 
the Council’s Stated Outcomes? (Outcomes - People in Cumbria are 
Healthy and Safe, Places in Cumbria are well connected and thriving, the 
Economy in Cumbria is growing and benefits everyone) 

 
15. The issues discussed in this report are focussed on ensuring that full 

consideration is given to how local government reorganisation in Cumbria can 
be structured to improve outcomes for the people of Cumbria and ensure places 
in Cumbria are well connected and thriving and the economy in Cumbria is 
growing and benefits everyone. 

 
 What is the Impact of the Decision on Health Inequalities and Equality and 

Diversity Issues? 
 
13. There are no identified health inequalities and equality diversity issues to be 

considered in relation to the recommendations in this report. 
 
 
Appendices  
 
There are no appendices 
 
Key Facts 
 
Electoral Division(s): All 

 
 
 

Executive 
Decision  

Key 
Decision 
Included 
in 
Forward 
Plan 

Exempt 
from call-
in 

Exemption 
agreed by 
scrutiny 
chair 

Considered 
by 
scrutiny, if 
so detail 
below 

Environmental 
or 
sustainability 
assessment 
undertaken? 

Equality 
impact 
assessment  
undertaken? 

Yes No N/A N/A  N/A N/A 
 
 

Approved by the relevant Cabinet Member/s on 12 October 2021 
 
Previous relevant Council or Executive decisions 
 
Cabinet decision – 23 September 2021 
 
Consideration by Overview & Scrutiny 
 
SMB Call In – 11 October 2021 
 
Background Papers 
 
None 
 
Report Author 
Liz Morgan, Senior Lawyer, Legal and Democratic Services 
liz.morgan@cumbria.gov.uk 

20

mailto:liz.morgan@cumbria.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Referral back from Scrutiny re Cabinet Decision on the potential claim for Judicial Review against the decision of the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Review in Cumbria
	Appendix 1 CAB 14/10 - Referral back from Scrutiny re Cabinet Decision on the potential claim for Judicial Review against the decision of the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Review in Cumbria

	5 Response to the Referral back from Scrutiny re Cabinet Decision on the potential claim for Judicial Review against the decision of the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Review in Cumbria

